**FILED**

JUL 15 2015

COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION III  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
By \_\_\_\_\_

NO. 33245-4-III

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

---

RHONDA L. DUNCAN, d/b/a THE COMPASSIONATE KITCHEN,

Respondent,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

ROBERT W. FERGUSON  
Attorney General

DAVID M. HANKINS, WSBA No. 19194  
Senior Counsel  
Revenue Division, OID No. 91027  
P.O. Box 40123  
Olympia, WA 98504-0123  
(360) 753-5528

##

## **I. INTRODUCTION**

Medical marijuana is not a prescription drug. Rhonda Duncan, d/b/a The Compassionate Kitchen (“Duncan”), nonetheless argues that sales of medical marijuana are exempt from retail sales tax based upon a claimed exemption from sales tax for prescription drugs. Both the Department of Revenue and the Board of Tax Appeals rejected Duncan’s arguments that sales of marijuana for medical use are exempt from sales tax under RCW 82.08.0281 as a prescription drug and denied her request for a refund of sales tax. The Superior Court erred in concluding that medical marijuana is dispensed pursuant to a prescription. This Court should reverse that decision and affirm the Board of Tax Appeals.

## **II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

The Superior Court erred in reversing the Board of Tax Appeal’s decision that sales of medical marijuana, made pursuant to RCW 69.51A, do not qualify for the exemption from retail sales tax under RCW 82.08.0281(1) as “sales of drugs” pursuant to a prescription.

## **III. ISSUE**

Are sales of medical marijuana, which cannot legally be prescribed under state or federal law, exempt from sales tax under the sales tax exemption for prescription drugs provided by RCW 82.08.0281?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

##### A. Medical Marijuana In Washington.

In 1998, Washington voters adopted Initiative 692, Laws of 1999, ch. 2, to provide an affirmative defense against what would otherwise be criminal offenses for medical marijuana production, possession, and use.<sup>1</sup> Washington's medical marijuana system is codified as Washington state medical use of cannabis act (MUCA), ch. 69.51A RCW. Initially, the statute provided qualifying medical marijuana users an affirmative defense to criminal prosecutions. Former RCW 69.51A.040(2)-(3) (2010).

To qualify for the affirmative defense, a person had to meet the definition of a being a “qualifying patient.” Former RCW 69.51A.010(4)(a)-(e) (2010). The patient had to be a Washington resident and diagnosed with a terminal or debilitating medical condition by a Washington licensed health care professional. *Id.* The health care professional would have advised the patient of the benefits and risks of the medical use of marijuana. *Id.* The licensed health care professional would provide authorization to possess marijuana by providing the patient a

---

<sup>1</sup> Washington’s criminal laws concerning marijuana date from 1971, when the Washington Legislature enacted the Uniform Controlled Substances Act, ch. 69.50 RCW. That statute made it a crime to manufacture, deliver, or possess marijuana. RCW 69.50.401-.445. As recounted in text, those laws as they relate to medical marijuana have evolved in recent years. The Washington Supreme Court recently reviewed the history of medical marijuana in *Cannabis Action Coalition v. City of Kent*, No. 90204–6, 2015 WL 2418553, (Wash. May 15, 2015).

signed statement known under the statute as “valid documentation,” which indicated that “in the opinion of the health care professional, the patient could benefit from the medical use of marijuana.” Former RCW 69.51A.010(7). The patient could not have more than a sixty-day supply. Former RCW 69.51A.040(3)(b). If all of these conditions were satisfied, the qualifying patient could assert an affirmative defense against a criminal prosecution for possession of marijuana.

Although this case is governed by the law at it existed in 2009, when Duncan’s tax liability accrued, the law has continued to evolve in ways that illuminate the issue before the Court. The Legislature amended the MUCA in 2011 to create a comprehensive regulatory scheme under which all patients, physicians, processors, producers, and dispensers could be securely and confidentially registered in a database maintained by the Washington Department of Health. Laws of 2011, ch. 181, § 901 (later vetoed). But Governor Gregoire vetoed 36 of the bill’s 58 sections, including those creating a system of state registration. *See id.* at 1374-76 (governor's veto message). In addition to the registration system, the bill authorized collective gardens and clarified that local jurisdictions retain their zoning power over medical marijuana activities.

In 2015, the Legislature accomplished what the Governor’s veto excised from the 2011 act, creating a comprehensive regulatory scheme

for the medical use of marijuana. Laws of 2015, ch. 70. It created a medical marijuana authorization database and recognition card. *See id.*, §§ 17, 19. Retail stores offering sales of medical marijuana will now be licensed and regulated. *See id.*, § 10. For the first time, the authorization from the health care professional will include the “amount of marijuana recommended for the qualifying patient.” *See id.*, § 18.

Notably for this case, the Legislature made clear in 2015 that authorizations for the use of medical marijuana are not prescriptions. *See id.*, § 17 (amending RCW 69.51A.010 (7)); *see also* Laws of 2015, 2d Spec. Sess., ch. 4, § 101(b) (intent section of related legislation emphasizing that it is “imperative to distinguish that the authorization for medical use of marijuana is different from a valid prescription provided by a doctor to a patient”). This new regulatory scheme goes into effect on July 1, 2016. *Id.*

**B. Duncan’s Dispensary & Tax Refund Claim.**

In 2008, Rhonda Duncan began a business to sell marijuana for medical use. Administrative Record (AR) at 71, 77. When Duncan failed to pay state taxes, the Department began proceedings to collect delinquent taxes. AR at 71. She closed the business. *Id.* In 2009, she began selling marijuana under a different tax reporting account and operating with the business name “The Compassionate Kitchen.” AR at 77, 78, 88. She did

not collect sales tax from customers on sales of medical marijuana in 2009. AR at 80, 86. Instead, she paid the sales tax herself “on all 2009 transactions involving medical marijuana.” AR at 42.

In September 2010, Duncan requested guidance from the Department on how she should collect and report taxes on the sales of medical marijuana. AR at 88. The Department issued a letter ruling stating that “sales of medical marijuana are considered retail sales. As such, the gross income earned is subject to the retailing business and occupation (B&O) tax. The gross amount charged to the customer is also subject to the retail sales tax.” AR at 90. The Department further ruled that “sales of medical marijuana are not eligible for the prescription drug sales tax exemption.” *Id.* Duncan was well aware of the Department’s interpretation and position.

In 2010, the Department also sent a letter to approximately 90 medical marijuana businesses and interested organizations and associations to inform them that sales tax was due on all sales of medical marijuana and that such sales did not qualify for the exemption as a prescription under RCW 82.08.0281. AR at 95-96. Further, the Department posted the information on its website and issued a Special Notice entitled, “Sales of Medical Cannabis Remain Subject To Sales

Tax,” informing the public that sales of medical marijuana were subject to tax. AR at 93, 98.

In 2011, federal authorities raided Duncan’s business, which she then closed. AR at 78. Ms. Duncan subsequently submitted an amended return for the January-December 2009 tax period and requested a refund of sales taxes she had remitted for that period. AR at 100-02. The Department denied the refund request, and Ms. Duncan appealed that decision to the Department’s appeal division, which issued a determination upholding the denial of the refund. AR at 104-09. Ms. Duncan timely appealed to the Board of Tax Appeals. AR at 202.

At the Board, the sole issue Duncan presented for the Board to decide was whether, “pursuant to RCW 82.08.0281, the retail sale or distribution of medicinal marijuana is tax exempt.” AR at 164. Duncan moved for summary judgment. AR at 131-55. The Department responded and asked the Board to grant summary judgment in the Department’s favor affirming the denial of the tax refund. AR at 54-130.

On October 13, 2014, the Board entered its Final Decision granting summary judgment to the Department. AR at 31-39; *see* Appendix 1. The Board rejected Duncan’s claim that sales of medicinal marijuana qualified for the sales tax exemption under RCW 82.08.0281. The Board concluded:

Because the exemption in RCW 82.08.0281(1) applies to “sales of drugs . . . dispensed . . . pursuant to a prescription,” the Board determines as a matter of law that the exemption cannot apply to the Taxpayer’s sales of medical marijuana and that her refund request must therefore be denied.

AR at 37.

Duncan sought judicial review of the Board’s Final Decision before the Spokane County Superior Court. CP at 1-30. On March 2, 2015, the court entered an order reversing the Board of Tax Appeals. CP at 91-92; *see* Appendix 2. The court held that under the APA, RCW 34.05.570(3)(d), the Board erroneously interpreted or applied the law. *Id.* The court interpreted RCW 82.08.0281(1) to exempt sales of medical marijuana made pursuant to RCW 69.51A from retail sales tax. *Id.* The Department timely filed a notice of appeal to this Court. CP at 93.

## V. ARGUMENT

### A. Scope Of Review.

In reviewing the trial court’s decision on review of a Board of Tax Appeals decision, this Court applies the standards of the Administrative Procedure Act (APA) directly to the record before the Board, sitting in the same position as the trial court. *Department of Revenue v. Bi-Mor, Inc.*, 171 Wn. App. 197, 201-02, 286 P.3d 417 (2012), *review denied*, 177 Wn.2d 1002 (2013). The Court does not give deference to the Superior

Court's ruling. *Department of Revenue v. Nord Northwest Corp.*, 164 Wn. App. 215, 223, 264 P.3d 259 (2011). The APA outlines the standard of review in RCW 34.05.570(3)(a)-(i). The only standard at issue in this case is whether the "agency has erroneously interpreted or applied the law." RCW 34.05.570(3)(d). Further, under the APA, the burden of demonstrating the invalidity of the Board's action is on the party asserting that the agency erred. RCW 34.05.370(1)(a).

Because the Board resolved this matter on summary judgment, the reviewing court "overlays the APA 'error of law' standard of review with the summary judgment standard, and reviews an agency's interpretation or application of the law de novo while viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Bi-Mor, Inc.*, 171 Wn. App. at 202.

**B. Duncan's Sales Of Medical Marijuana Were Subject To Retail Sales Tax.**

Sales of tangible personal property to consumers in Washington are subject to the retail sales tax unless a specific statute exempts the transaction from tax. RCW 82.04.050. Taxation is the general rule, and exemptions are the exception. *Budget Rent-A-Car v. Dep't of Revenue*, 81 Wn.2d 171, 174, 500 P.2d 764 (1972) ("Exemptions to a tax law must be narrowly construed"). Retail sellers are obligated to collect the tax from their customers and remit the tax to the Department. RCW 82.08.050(2).



A retail seller who fails to collect the retail sales tax from its customers, or who collects the tax and fails to remit it to the Department, is liable to the Department for the amount of those taxes. RCW 82.08.050(4); *AARO Medical Supplies, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 132 Wn. App. 709, 718, 721, 132 P.3d 1143 (2006), *review denied*, 159 Wn.2d 1013, 154 P.3d 919 (2007). In this case, Duncan failed to collect the tax from her customers, but paid it herself. She now claims she is entitled to a refund under what is commonly known as the prescription drug exemption.

Under RCW 82.08.0281, sales of prescription drugs are exempt from the retail sales tax. The version of RCW 82.08.0281 in effect in 2009 stated:

(1) The tax levied by RCW 82.08.020 shall not apply to sales of drugs for human use dispensed or to be dispensed to patients, pursuant to a prescription.

...

(4) The definitions in this subsection apply throughout this section.

(a) "Prescription" means an order, formula, or recipe issued in any form of oral, written, electronic, or other means of transmission by a duly licensed practitioner authorized by the laws of this state to prescribe.

*See* Appendix 3.

Duncan argues that a sale of marijuana for medical use qualifies under the statute, because it meets the three conditions: 1) the health care authorization is an "order, formula, or recipe", 2) "given by a duly

licensed practitioner,” 3) “who is authorized under the laws of the state to prescribe.” AR at 139; CP at 38. Under the plain meaning of the statute, the Board properly rejected Duncan’s arguments. As a matter of law, the health care authorization is not a prescription, medical marijuana is not prescribed, and the sale of medical marijuana is not exempt from retail sales tax as a sale of a prescription drug under RCW 82.08.0281.

**1. The plain meaning of RCW 82.08.0281 demonstrates that sales of medical marijuana are not tax exempt.**

The goal of statutory interpretation is to discern and apply the Legislature’s intent based upon the statute’s plain meaning. *See Department of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC*, 146 Wn. 2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002) (“A court’s goal in construing a statute is to determine and give effect to the Legislature’s intent”); *Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass’n*, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010) (“Statutory construction begins with the statute’s plain meaning.”). “If the statute’s meaning is plain on its face, we give effect to that plain meaning as the expression of what was intended.” *TracFone Wireless, Inc. v. Dep’t of Revenue*, 170 Wn.2d 273, 281, 242 P.3d 810 (2010). The Court should avoid interpreting a statute in a manner that results in unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences. *G-P Gypsum Corp. v. Dep’t of Revenue*, 169

Wn.2d 304, 313, 237 P.3d 256 (2010); *Glaubach v. Regence BlueShield*, 149 Wn.2d 827, 833, 74 P.3d 115 (2003).

As a tax exemption, RCW 82.08.0281 must “be construed strictly, though fairly and in keeping with the ordinary meaning of [its] language, against the taxpayer.” *Sacred Heart Medical Ctr. v. Dep’t of Revenue*, 88 Wn. App. 632, 637, 946 P.2d 409 (1997) (quoting *Group Health Co-op. of Puget Sound, Inc. v. Washington State Tax Comm’n*, 72 Wn.2d 422, 429, 433 P.2d 201 (1967)). Because it is the agency that administers RCW 82.08.0281, the Department’s interpretation that sales of medical marijuana are subject to tax should be accorded substantial weight. *See Department of Revenue v. Nord Northwest Corp.*, 164 Wn. App. 215, 223, 264 P.3d 259 (2011).

The Board examined RCW 82.08.0281 and concluded that, as a matter of law, “the exemption cannot apply to the Taxpayer’s sales of medical marijuana.” CP at 63. The Board began its analysis by looking at the plain language of the statute, exempting taxes on sales “of drugs for human use dispensed or to be dispensed to patients, pursuant to a prescription.” The Board properly concluded that this plain language requires drugs to be dispensed by a prescription. The Board explained that “under federal and Washington law, marijuana is classified as a Schedule I controlled substance, and no physician, or “health care professional” is

authorized under federal or Washington law to prescribe marijuana.” CP at 63. Because duly licensed practitioners may not prescribe marijuana, marijuana is not dispensed to patients “pursuant to a prescription” as required in RCW 82.08.0281, and thus the sale of medical marijuana does not qualify for the retail sales tax exemption. CP at 63.

In Duncan’s view, the statutory definition of “prescription” encompasses the signed document that medical marijuana patients must provide from a physician—that is, “a statement signed by a . . . physician,” confirming that “the patient may benefit from the medical use of marijuana.” Former RCW 69.51A.010(5)(a) (2010). *See* CP at 39-40. Duncan is wrong to suggest that the statement is equivalent to a “prescription” under RCW 82.08.0281(4)(a). As discussed below, healthcare professionals, including physicians, cannot prescribe marijuana.

**2. Both federal and state laws prohibit issuing prescriptions for marijuana.**

Under the sales tax exemption for prescription drugs, a patient must have a prescription. RCW 82.08.0281(1). But patients are not provided a prescription for medical marijuana. This is because under both federal and state law, marijuana is categorized as a schedule 1 controlled substance, for which prescriptions may not be written.

The federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, 21 U.S.C. § 301 *et seq.*, categorizes drugs based upon their potential for abuse in five schedules called “controlled substances.” Schedule II through Schedule V all require a prescription. 21 U.S.C. § 829. Schedule I drugs are characterized as drugs with a high potential for abuse, have no currently accepted medical use in treatment, and lack safety for use of the drug. 21 U.S.C. § 812(b). Marijuana is a Schedule I controlled substance. 21 U.S.C. § 812(c)(10).

Washington’s Uniform Controlled Substances Act also classifies marijuana as a Schedule I controlled substance. RCW 69.50.204(c)(22). Furthermore, a health care practitioner must obtain a special registration from the federal government in order to be authorized to prescribe a controlled substance. 21 U.S.C. § 822(a). Without a specific registration for Schedule I controlled substances, no health care practitioner may issue a prescription for a Schedule I controlled substance, including marijuana. *Id.*; RCW 69.50.203(a)(2), (3); RCW 69.50.308. The Washington Supreme Court recognized this in *Seeley v. State*, 132 Wn.2d 776, 940 P.2d 604 (1997). In *Seeley*, an individual challenged the state’s listing of marijuana as a Schedule I controlled substance as unconstitutional under Article I, sections 12 and § 32 of the Washington Constitution. The Court upheld the Legislature’s classification and held: “Marijuana cannot be

legally prescribed, nor can a prescription for marijuana be filled by a pharmacist in Washington . . . .” *Id.* at 783. The sales tax exemption in RCW 82.08.0281 does not apply because there is no lawful prescription for marijuana.

**3. Washington’s Medical Cannabis statute does not authorize a prescription.**

The medicinal use of marijuana was established through an initiative of the people codified under RCW 69.51A. People who were diagnosed with terminal or debilitating medical conditions could be authorized to use marijuana. RCW 69.51A.005. The primary purpose was to avoid criminal and civil liability for the possession and use of marijuana. RCW 69.51A.040. Under this statute, the health care professional must document that the patient meets the conditions for use of marijuana for medicinal purposes. The health care authorization provided an affirmative defense to the crime of possession of marijuana, because the statute did not make it lawful to possess marijuana. *See State v. Reis*, No. 90281-0, 2015 WL 2145986 at \*2, 6 (Wash. May 7, 2015) (examining the 2011 amendments to RCW 69.51A and stating that, “medical use of marijuana is not lawful . . .”); *see also Coats v. Dish Network, LLC*, No.13SC394, 2015 WL 3744265 at \*1 (Colo. June 15, 2015) (employer’s termination of employee for medical use of marijuana

did not result in a wrongful termination or discriminatory act, because it was not a “lawful” activity).

The Washington State Medical Association and the Washington American Civil Liberties Union provide a form for both patients and health care providers to effectuate the health care authorization for possession of marijuana for medical use. AR at 111, 113. Both the Washington State Medical Association and the Washington State Medical Quality Assurance Commission explicitly state that physicians are not issuing prescriptions with respect to medical marijuana. The Medical Association advises its members:

**Does this mean that physicians or the other licensed health care professionals may prescribe marijuana?**

*No, physicians or the other authorized licensed health care professionals must not prescribe marijuana.* It is prohibited under *federal* law to knowingly or intentionally distribute, dispense or possess marijuana. The terms "distribute" and "dispense" have been broadly interpreted, and physicians and the other authorized licensed health care professionals may be found in violation of federal law for writing a prescription for a substance, such as marijuana, for which federal law has no recognized medical use. Violation of federal laws can bring significant penalties, including imprisonment and fines. In addition, violating federal law (or aid and abet in its violation) may result in other federal sanctions, such as a revocation of a health care provider's DEA registration.

AR at 115-16 (emphasis in original).

Likewise, the Medical Commission advises physicians:

**Is my recommendation considered a prescription if it is written on tamper-resistant paper?**

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