COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON (Div. III)



RHONDA L. DUNCAN, d/b/a THE COMPASSIONATE KITCHEN,

Respondent,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Appellant,

SUPERIOR COURT No. 14-2-04440-7 SPOKANE COUNTY HONORABLE JUDGE CLARKE

RESPONSE BRIEF

Jeffry K. Finer
Law Offices of JEFFRY K FINER, P.S.
35 West Main • Suite 300
Spokane, WA • 99201
(509) 464-7611
Attorney for Respondent

Argument
A. THE COURT DISCERNS LEGISLATIVE INTENT
FROM THE PLAIN LANGUAGE ENACTED BY
THE LEGISLATURE, CONSIDERING THE TEXT
OF THE PROVISION IN QUESTION, THE
CONTEXT OF THE STATUTE IN WHICH THE
PROVISION IS FOUND, RELATED PROVISIONS,
AMENDMENTS TO THE PROVISION, AND THE
STATUTORY SCHEME AS A WHOLE2
B. WORDS DEFINED BY STATUTE MUST BE
GIVEN THEIR MEANING AS PROVIDED WITHIN
THE TEXT, NOT FROM OUTSIDE SOURCES9
C. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERROR IN ITS
INTERPRETATION OF "PRESCRIPTION" UNDER
THE 2010 VERSION OF RCW § 82.08.0281 AND
RESPONDENT IS ENTITLED TO THAT
EXEMPTION11
Conclusion 14

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASE AUTHORITY

Ass'n of Wash. Spirits & Wine Distrib. v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd., 182 Wn.2d 342 (2015)
Barnhart v. Sigmon Coal Co., 534 U.S. 438 (2002)
Caminetti v. United States, 242 U.S. 470 (1917)
Cerrillo v. Esparza, 158 Wn.2d 194 (2006)
Consumer Product Safety Commission et al v. GTE Sylvania, Inc. et al, 447 U.S. 102 (1980)
Connecticut National Bank v. Germain, 503 U.S. 249 (1992)
Densley v. Department of Retirement Systems, 162 Wn.2d 210, 219 (2007)
Department of Revenue v. Nord Northwest Corp., 164 Wn. App. 215, 223 (2011)
In re Sanders, 551 F.3d 397 (6 th Cir. 2008)
State ex ref. Hagan v. Chinook Hotel, Inc., 65 Wn.2d 573, 578 (1965)
State v. J.P. 149 Wn2. 444 (2003)
State v. Martin. 94 Wash.2d 1 (1980)

REPLY TO APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

This appeal solely rests upon the statutory definition of the term "prescription" for purposes of taxation under RCW § 82.08.0281 (2010). This statute exempts "prescriptions" from taxation and the statute provides an explicit, statutory definition for the term.

The Department of Revenue's statement of the issue is defective insofar as it imposes a requirement that is not set forth in RCW § 82.08.0281 and attempts to rewrite the legislative text. Ms. Duncan concedes that marijuana cannot be prescribed by a doctor — insofar as the term "prescription" is given its common use and insofar as Washington State cases employ the term in its common use — but Duncan responds that the common parlance meaning of "prescription" is not the issue before this Court.

Accordingly, and with respect, the Appellee suggests that the actual issue is a straightforward matter of legislative interpretation that would be fairly phrased as follows:

¹ The parties acknowledge that the statute as currently written does not extend the term "prescription" to cover medical marijuana authorizations signed by licensed physicians. This appeal, however, deals with the statutory exemption language as it existed in 2009-10.

ISSUE: Given the specific definition of the term "prescription" in the 20010 version of the statute exempting prescriptions from sales tax, are sales of medical marijuana — supported by a written authorization signed a Washington State licensed physician stating that the patient would benefit from the use of marijuana — exempt under the statute?

The answer to this issue is found in the unambiguous text of the tax exemption statute and is dispositive.

Scope and Standard of Review. Ms. Duncan does not dispute the Department of Revenue's statements regarding the scope or standard of review. This appeal turns on a matter of statutory interpretation, the standard is *de novo. Ass'n of Wash. Spirits & Wine Distrib. v. Wash.*State Liquor Control Bd., 182 Wn.2d 342, 350 (2015).

A. THE COURT DISCERNS LEGISLATIVE INTENT FROM THE PLAIN LANGUAGE ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE, CONSIDERING THE TEXT OF THE PROVISION IN QUESTION, THE CONTEXT OF THE STATUTE IN WHICH THE PROVISION IS FOUND, RELATED PROVISIONS, AMENDMENTS TO THE PROVISION, AND THE STATUTORY SCHEME AS A WHOLE.

Because statutory interpretation is at the heart of this case, it serves to review the rules governing how Washington State Courts determine a statute's meaning.

The starting point for interpreting a statute is the language of the statute itself: Absent a clearly expressed legislative intention to the contrary, that language must ordinarily be regarded as conclusive.

Consumer Product Safety Commission et al. v. GTE Sylvania, Inc. et al., 447 U.S. 102, 108 (1980).

The Supreme Court has given clear direction in the proper role of statutory interpretation:

[I]n interpreting a statute a court should always turn to one cardinal canon before all others. . . .[C]ourts must presume that a legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says there. [Citations omitted]. When the words of a statute are unambiguous, then, this first canon is also the last: "judicial inquiry is complete."

Connecticut Nat'l Bk v. Germain, 503 U.S. 249, 254 (1992). See also Densley v. Department of Retirement Systems, 162 Wn.2d 210, 219 (2007). Courts should always begin with the text of the statute:

As in all statutory construction cases, we begin with the language of the statute. The first step is to determine whether the language at issue has a plain and unambiguous meaning with regard to the particular dispute in the case.

Barnhart v. Sigmon Coal Co., 534 U.S. 438, 450 (2002).

In Washington, the principles of statutory construction are well formulated:

[The courts'] primary duty in interpreting any statute is to discern and implement the intent of the legislature. [Cite omitted]. Our starting point must always be "the statute's plain language and ordinary meaning." Id. When the plain language is unambiguous – that is, when the statutory language admits of only one meaning — the legislative intent is apparent, and we will not construe the statute otherwise. [Cite omitted]. Just as we "cannot add words or clauses to an unambiguous statute when the legislature has chosen not to include that language . . . we may not delete language from an unambiguous statute.

State v. J.P., 149 Wn.2d 444, 448 (2003).

"If a statute is clear on its face, its meaning is to be derived from the language of the statute alone." *Cerrillo v. Esparza*, 158 Wn.2d 194, 201 (2006) (quoting *Kilian v. Atkinson*, 147 Wn.2d 16, 20 (2002)) (internal quotations omitted).

The statute here is clear on its face and unambiguous: it exempts from tax the sale of drugs (for humans) dispensed by prescription; then it defines prescription.

- (1) The tax levied by RCW 82.08.020 shall not apply to sales of drugs for human use dispensed or to be dispensed to patients, pursuant to a prescription.
 - * * *
- (4) "prescription" means an order, formula, or recipe issued in any form of oral, written, electronic or other means of transmission by a duly licensed practitioner authorized by the laws of this state to prescribe.

RCW 82.08.0281(1), (4)(a).²

This definition applies to the tax exemption for retail sales of medical-use drugs, it does not apply to the statues governing controlled substances nor, in 2009-10, was it cross referenced to RCW 69.50 nor in any way did it exclude marijuana from the medical-sales tax exemption rules. The definition is neutral on its face as to the item being prescribed. The tax exemption statute does not render an item lawful or unlawful to use or possess, it merely made the sale of the item untaxed for retail purposes.

The Department of Revenue disregards the statutory definition in -.0281(4) for the word "prescription" — in favor of the common parlance meaning of the term as appears in general use, caselaw dealing with matters other than tax exemptions, and various non-binding literature issued by the Department and other parties. This approach is wrong. The statute defines "prescription" and no legal justification can be cited that would permit a court to ignore a statute's definition.

Duncan appreciates that the definition in the statute is broad, but its

² As amended in 2014, sub-section (4) now contains a provision that exempts marijuana from the definition of a "drug" for the purpose of the tax exemption. This case, however, involves the 2009 version of the exemption statute in which there was no reference to marijuana.

breadth is not subject to revision. Prescription, for the purposes of the exemption statute, is not limited to the workaday notion. For the purpose of the tax exemption, it requires only the following:

- there must be an ORDER, FORMULA OR RECIPE.
- given by a DULY LICENSED PRACTITIONER
- who is, him or herself, AUTHORIZED UNDER THE LAWS
 OF THE STATE TO PRESCRIBE

The Department of Revenue's arguments that marijuana is non-prescribable are correct if we talking about what a pharmacist is permitted to do, or whether a physician can request marijuana from a pharmaceutical dispensary. But the issue here is not whether marijuana is legal or even prescribable in the general sense of that term. The issue is whether a marijuana authorization under RCW 69.51A is *taxable* under RCW 82.08.0281.

There are no references in the exemption statute to federal law, to the DEA, Schedules of controlled substances, or anything relating to the nature of the thing prescribed — other than that the writing constitute an order, formula or recipe.

As shown next, the three conditions required in RCW 82.08.0281(4)(a) (an order, etc., by a licensed practitioner, authorized to prescribe) are met.

The authorization given by physicians to medical marijuana patients explicitly states that in the physician's opinion the patient may benefit from use of marijuana for a serious health condition. This constitutes no less an "order" than the typical script that a doctor may fill out stating "[DRUG] as needed." The Department does contend, in an ipse dixit conclusion, that a physician's recommendation that marijuana may benefit the patient fails to meet the "order, formula, or recipe" standard. DOR Brief at 22-23. The assertion is without analysis or basis. Standard prescriptions can be terse affairs, and "[DRUG] PRN" or "as needed" suffices to meet the standard. The authorizating langauge under 69.15A is readily analogous. There simply is no requirement that a prescription include specifics of dosage, frequency, etc. Although the Department argues, at page 23 of its Brief, that "type of product, quantity, or dosage [are] all elements of a prescription", the statement is simply untrue. The elements of a prescription, so far as taxation goes, are set forth in -.0281(4) and the Department cannot alter this language by fiat.

The next two elements of the test are also met: Duncan's participating physicians were licensed and authorized to prescribe in Washington. There are no facts in this case to support a contrary finding

that Duncan dispensed medical marijuana to clients not holding current, valid, RCW 69.51A forms for medical marijuana. There are no facts to support a finding that the medical authorizations upon which Plaintiff dispensed medical marijuana were not issued by duly licensed practitioners authorized to prescribe under Washington State laws.

Indeed, had Plaintiff been dispensing to anyone who did not present the proper RCW 69.51A document signed by a duly licensed practitioner who held authorization to prescribe, the matter would be a serious *criminal* violation of RCW chapt. 51 and 21 U.S.C. 841.

The exemption statute contains no limitation upon what constitutes an authorized substance, and there is no canon permitting the interpreter to rewrite the statute to force it to reach the Department's result. The Department's procrustean result is incompatible with a fair reading of the statute's text.

B. WORDS DEFINED BY STATUTE MUST BE GIVEN THEIR MEANING AS PROVIDED WITHIN THE TEXT, NOT FROM OUTSIDE SOURCES.

To be fair, Respondent agrees that if there were no definition section (2010) and if the term prescription was therefore given its general meaning, then doctors in Washington providing their patients with medical marijuana authorizations are not "prescribing" and the

sale of the marijuana would be taxable. Furthermore, Duncan is mindful that the Department of Revenue administers the tax statutes and WACS, and in the normal course the Department's interpretation would be be accorded substantial weight. *See Department of Revenue v. Nord Northwest Corp.*, 164 Wn. App. 215, 223, 264 P.3d 259 (2011). Here, however, the Legislature passed RCW § 82.08.0281(4) and gave a precise definition to the term "prescription." This definition precludes the Department, regardless of its expertise, from deciding what the term prescription means. When specific definitions are included, courts must take note and follow the given definition:

Because the terms are defined within the statute, we need not look outside the statute to determine their meaning. *State v. Smith*, 117 Wn.2d 263, 271, 814 P.2d 652 (1991) ("Words are given the meaning provided by the statute or, in the absence of specific definition, their ordinary meaning." (quoting *State v. Standifer*, 110 Wn.2d 90, 92, 750 P.2d 258 (1988)).

State v. Reis, at 205.

Statutory interpretation does not admit of spontaneous or discretionary editing. Neither the Department of Revenue nor a court can amend, elide, or abrogate a statute's plain langauge. The United States Supreme Court discussed the plain meaning rule in *Caminetti v. United States*, warning "the duty of interpretation does not arise, and

the rules which are to aid doubtful meanings need no discussion." 242 U.S. 470 (1917).

Are courts bound to follow language that judges feel was not the legislature's true intent and purpose? Not if the result is absurd. But here, given the intent of the medical marijuana statute to provide medical authorization for patients of physicians who believe that marijuana use may be beneficial, the exemption for medical marijuana is fully in line with the intent and purposes of the exemption statute:

Drugs provided for human use for patients with "prescriptions" issued by authorized Washington State physicians are tax exempt. This exemption relieves the consumer needing medicine from the retail tax burden for his or her "prescription."

And where, as here, the results are not patently absurd, the courts are not entitled to substitute their values or reasoning in place of the legislature's. "It is not this court's job to remove words from statutes or to create judicial fixes, even if we think the legislature would approve. Statutes that frustrate the purpose of others, though perhaps unintentionally, are "purely a legislative problem." State ex ref. Hagan v. Chinook Hotel, Inc., 65 Wn.2d 573, 578 (1965) cited favorably in State v. Reis, 183 Wn.2d at 214. "[Courts] do not have the

power to read into a statute that which we may believe the legislature has omitted, be it an intentional or an inadvertent omission.... [I]t would be a clear judicial usurpation of legislative power for us to correct that legislative oversight. *State v. Martin*, 94 Wash.2d 1, 8 (1980) (citations omitted).

C. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERROR IN ITS INTERPRETATION OF "PRESCRIPTION" UNDER RCW § 82.08.0281 (2010) AND RESPONDENT IS ENTITLED TO THAT EXEMPTION.

The Court in State v. J.P. cited with approval the following

language regarding the weight of statutory definitions: "application of the statutory definitions to the terms of art in a statute is essential to discerning the plain meaning of the statute." *Id.* In this case the lower court correctly began its analysis with a close grammatical reading of the statute and its text, including the unique and broad definition of "prescription."

The Department, however, initially focusses on statutory amendments made years later. DOR Brief at 12-20. These amendments point out Duncan's argument quite nicely: without the amending language, a grammatical fair-reading of the statute as it existed in 2009-10 excludes medical marijuana from taxation.

The Department then attempts to make the plain grammar of the statute into a contorted result. At page 28 of its Brief, the Department argues that the definition of prescription³ requires that the item being prescribed be itself authorized for dispensing. This interpretation may be what was intended, but one cannot tell that from the text itself. The text, read grammatically and naturally, takes the clause ("authorized by the laws of the state to prescribe") and naturally modifies the adjacent antecedent: the physician must be a practitioner who is authorized to prescribe. This is a well-established canon of interpretation: "Last Antecedent Canon." See A. Scalia & B. Garner, READING LAW: THE INTERPRETATION OF LEGAL TEXTS, wherein Justice Scalia notes that the canon is more correctly termed the "nearest-reasonable-referent canon." Whatever its name, the canon is found throughout the common law. See Barnhart v. Thomas, 540 U.S. 20, 26 (2003). See also, In re Sanders, 551 F.3d 397, 399 (6th Cir, 2008) (as a matter of grammar "[w]hen a word such as a pronoun points back to an antecedent or some other referent, the true referent should generally be the closest appropriate

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